FILED

OCT 03 2016

WASHINGTON STATE

NOTE OF THE COURT

Court of Appeals Case No. 73504-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, Respondent,

v.

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; KILO SIX, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC HANGARS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC FLIGHT FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; and JOHN SESSIONS, an individual Petitioners.

COUNT OF AFFERDS STATE OF WASHINGS

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals failed to comply with binding Supreme

Court authority mandating the award of attorneys' fees to prevailing

parties when a contract provides for fees. Plaintiff sued five Defendants.

Three Defendants have successfully defeated every claim asserted against them. They are prevailing parties entitled to attorneys' fees. The Court of Appeals failed to award them their fees, and they seek review to correct this error.

When a contract provides for attorneys' fees to the prevailing ... party, a party who prevails on every claim is unquestionably entitled to an award of its fees. That is black letter law, and the law as enunciated by this Court. *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987). This is an issue of substantial public interest to parties engaged in litigation.

Here, three of the five Defendants—John Sessions, Kilo 6 Owners Association, and Kilo Six, LLC—have won everything. On summary judgment, they defeated all damages claims. At trial, they defeated some of Plaintiff's equitable claims. On appeal, they defeated the rest

of Plaintiff's claims. After appeal, none of Plaintiff's claims against them survived:

	Defendant	Result
Count I	Sessions	Dismissed
Count II	Sessions	Dismissed
Count III	Sessions The Association Kilo Six	Dismissed
Count IV	Sessions The Association Kilo Six	Dismissed
Count V	Sessions	Dismissed

Inexplicably, the Court of Appeals failed to award attorneys' fees to these prevailing Defendants, and it affirmed the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to Plaintiff. This is clear error, directly contrary to Supreme Court authority, and should be reversed.

The Court of Appeals also failed to follow this Court's attorneys' fees precedent with regard to the other two Defendants—Historic Hangars, LLC and Historic Flight Foundation. These two Defendants defeated all damages claims on summary judgment. They defeated some of Plaintiff's equitable claims at trial. On appeal, they defeated most, but not all, of Plaintiff's remaining claims. In these circumstances, where both plaintiff and defendants win significant issues, neither side is the prevailing party

entitled to attorneys' fees. That is the law as enunciated by this Court. McGary v. Westlake Investors, 99 Wn.2d 280, 661 P.2d 971 (1983).

The following table shows the dismissal of almost all of the relief sought against these Defendants.

	Defendant	Relief	
Count I	Historic Hangars The Foundation	Damages Jet Blast Easement Movement Easement	
Count II Historic Hangars The Foundation		Damages No Access to Lot 12 Lot 12 Fence Lot 13 Fence Gate Monitors ¹	

The Court of Appeals incorrectly affirmed the award of attorneys' fees to Plaintiff, directly contrary to binding Supreme Court authority.

No attorneys' fees should have been awarded under these circumstances.

This Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.

II. IDENTITIES OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners/Defendants Kilo 6 Owners Association (the "Association"), Kilo Six, LLC ("Kilo Six"), Historic Hangars, LLC ("Historic Hangars"), Historic Flight Foundation (the "Foundation"), and John Sessions ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

¹ The trial court granted this relief, but Everett Hangar did not request it.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part the judgment entered by the trial court. *Everett Hangar, LLC v. Kilo 6 Owners Ass 'n*, No. 73504-7-I (Wash. Ct. App. August 8, 2016) (hereinafter, "Slip. op."). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

Defendants moved for reconsideration, which the Court of

Appeals denied. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as

Appendix B.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because the Court of Appeals failed to award attorneys' fees as directed by this Court's precedent and Court of Appeals precedent, and because awards of attorneys' fees are important to the disposition of many civil cases throughout our state?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of Dispute

This case is a dispute among the owners of three neighboring lots along the Kilo 7 taxiway at Paine Field. Plaintiff, Everett Hangar, operates a corporate jet hangar located next to a vintage aircraft museum. Everett Hangar sued five parties—its neighboring owners, the museum, an owners association, and one individual—in an attempt to shut down the museum

activities on the museum's ramp, and to severely limit other activities, such as public air shows sponsored by Paine Field. But Everett Hangar's effort has failed. After the Court of Appeals decision, Defendants may continue to use their properties for their intended purposes.

Snohomish County is the ground lessor of each of the lots at issue, which run west to east and are described as Lots 11, 12, and 13. Historic Hangars is the ground lessee for the western lot (Lot 11). Historic Hangars leases Lot 11 to the Foundation, a non-profit corporation that operates the museum out of the hangar on Lot 11.

Everett Hangar is the ground lessee of Lot 12 (the middle lot, immediately east of Lot 11). Everett Hangar is owned by Dean Weidner, who operates two private jets out of the hangar on Lot 12. Dean Weidner, the Chief Executive Officer of Weidner Investment Services, uses the jets for business and personal purposes.

Kilo Six is the ground lessee for Lot 13 (immediately east of Lot 12). Lot 13 does not have a hangar built on it, and Kilo Six permits the Foundation to use Lot 13 for parking for guests attending events hosted by the Foundation. John Sessions is the managing member of Historic Hangars and Kilo Six, and is president of the Foundation.

All three lots are governed by the amended and restated ground leasehold declaration of covenants, conditions, and restrictions

(the "CC&Rs"), which created the Kilo 6 Owners Association. All three lots are encumbered by the same mutual easement:

12.7 Ingress and Egress Easement for Aircraft. Each Owner shall have an ingress and egress easement over and across such portions of the airplane ramps located on any Lot as is reasonably necessary to move aircraft to or from any building and the adjacent properties on which taxiways, runways, and airport facilities are located.

The scope of this easement was the central issue of this lawsuit.

Everett Hangar commenced this lawsuit against Sessions, the Association, Kilo Six, Historic Hangars, and the Foundation, seeking damages and injunctive relief relating to the easement and other aspects of the Foundation's use of Lots 11 and 13. The CC&Rs provide for attorneys' fees to the prevailing party.

B. After the Court of Appeals Decision, Three Defendants Have Totally Prevailed, and the Other Two Defendants Have Prevailed on Major Issues.

The trial court awarded Everett Hangar only a small fraction of the relief it requested.² The trial court dismissed all claims for damages on summary judgment. After trial, the court dismissed all claims against Sessions, dismissed Count IV, and granted only limited injunctive relief under Counts I through III against Historic Hangars, the Foundation, and the Association.

6

² See CP 676-78 (summary judgment) and CP 483 (conclusions of law).

Defendants appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed most of the relief granted to Everett Hangar.³ Counts III, IV, and V have now been dismissed entirely. Consequently, all claims against three of the five Defendants—the Association, Kilo Six, and Sessions—have now been dismissed.⁴ Everett Hangar is left with only partial relief on two of its five claims, and against only two of five Defendants.

During the trial, Everett Hangar was allowed to amend its complaint to reflect the relief it sought. Everett Hangar's lack of success in this case is best illustrated by reviewing the relief it requested in its Amended Complaint. CP 580-81. The following strike-outs reflect the disposition of its claims for relief after the Court of Appeals decision:

Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court:

A. Enter a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants [now, only Defendants Historic Hangars and the Foundation], and all those acting in concert or participation with them, from operating a vintage aircraft museum static aircraft display on the Lot 11 apron, providing uncontrolled or poorly controlled public access to the Lot 11 apron [now, only the object free area on the Lot 11 apron]or conducting any other similar operation on the Lot 11 apron inconsistent with the safe and efficient

³ See Slip op. at 18, 25-27 (reversing most of the injunctive relief under Counts I and II, dismissing County III, and dismissing Counts I through V against Sessions with prejudice).

⁴ On pages 22 and 30 of its decision, the Court of Appeals suggested that Kilo Six was liable for certain breaches. However, the Court of Appeals affirmed relief for Everett Hangar under only Counts I or II, for which Everett Hangar received relief against only Historic Hangars and the Foundation. CP 483.

operation of all aircraft, including those operating out of the hangar on Lot 12;

B. Enjoin Defendant John Sessions from breaching his fiduciary duties to Plaintiff by (a) controlling the Association for his own benefit, the detriment of Plaintiff, or (b) allowing activities on Lot 11 or Lot 13 that expose Plaintiff and its operations to unreasonable safety and security risks.

Enter a permanent injunction prohibiting
Defendants and their agents, employees, officers and
contractors are enjoined [sie] from permitting public access
to Lot 13 for vehicle parking or any other purpose unless
and until it first erects, at its expense, a fence identical in
design and material to the existing Paine Field perimeter
fencing, around the perimeter of that portion of Lot 13 to be
used for public access, which shall connect at both ends to
the Paine Field perimeter fencing. The northern boundary
of the newly erected security fence shall not extend further
north than a line defined by the north wall of the Lot 12
hangar.

- C. Enjoin Defendants from refusing to allow Everett Hangar to construct security fencing and a secured gate, at Everett Hangar's expense, identical in design and material to the existing Paine Field perimeter fencing, around the Lot 12 parking lot;
- D. Award Plaintiff's costs, including attorneys' fees, pursuant to Sec. 4.2 of the CC&Rs:
- E. Award prejudgment and post-judgment interest on applicable amounts; and
- F. Award such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

Everett Hangar has lost all of its damages claims and almost all of the injunctive relief it requested.

This conclusion is confirmed by an examination of how well Everett Hangar fared under each of the five Counts of its Amended Complaint against each Defendant. The following table shows which Counts Everett Hangar asserted against which Defendants, and indicates where Everett Hangar received any relief against any of the Defendants. A check mark ("✓") indicates Everett Hangar received some relief. An "X" indicates that the listed Defendant received relief. A shaded box (with no mark) indicates Everett Hangar did not assert the indicated Count against the listed Defendant.

<u>Defendants Who</u> <u>Prevailed on</u> <u>All Claims</u>			<u>Defendants Who</u> <u>Prevailed on</u> <u>Most Claims</u>		
	Sessions	The Association	Kilo Six	Historic Hangers	The Foundation
Damages (All Counts)	X Dismissed on SJ	X Dismissed on SJ	X Dismissed on SJ	X Dismissed on SJ	X Dismissed on SJ
Count I (Injunctive Relief)	X Dismissed at trial			Dismissed in part on appeal	Dismissed in part on appeal
Count II (Injunctive Relief)	X Dismissed at trial			Dismissed in part on appeal	✓X Dismissed in part on appeal
Count III (Injunctive Relief)	X Dismissed at trial	X Dismissed on appeal	X Dismissed on appeal	X Dismissed on appeal	
Count IV (Injunctive Relief)	X Dismissed at trial	X Dismissed at trial	X Dismissed at trial		
Count V (Injunctive Relief)	X Dismissed at trial				

 $[\]checkmark$ = Relief for Plaintiff X = Relief for Defendant = no claim asserted

As this chart makes clear, Defendants successfully defended against almost all of the claims asserted by Everett Hangar. The only relief partially won by Everett Hangar falls within Counts I and II against only Historic Hangars and the Foundation. And after the Court of Appeals decision, Everett Hangar has lost the core relief sought under these Counts, too. Historic Hangars and the Foundation are now prohibited only from blocking the area necessary to move aircraft across Lot 11, and from propping open entrances to Lots 11 and 13 without appropriate monitors. This is only a small fraction of the relief Everett Hangar requested in the trial court. Defendants have prevailed on Everett Hangar's claims (1) for damages, (2) for a jet blast easement, (3) for a fence around the Lot 12 parking lot, (4) for a fence around the airport side of Lot 13, (5) for a prohibition of museum displays on any portion of the Lot 11 ramp, (6) for the right to block Defendants' easement access across the Lot 12 ramp, and (7) for breaches of fiduciary duty.

Nevertheless, on the issue of attorneys' fees, the Court of Appeals stated, "Everett Hangar brought claims I through IV of its complaint under the CC&Rs or the Association bylaws. The CC&R fee provision applies only to these claims. Here, the trial court awarded Everett Hangar relief on each of these claims and thus properly awarded Everett Hangar attorney fees." Slip op. at 28 (emphasis added). This statement is plainly wrong.

The trial court dismissed all of Count IV. CP 483. The Court of Appeals dismissed all of Count III. Slip op. at 25-26. And the Court of Appeals reversed most of the injunctive relief granted to Everett Hangar under Counts I and II. Slip op. at 16-18, 24-25.

VI. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's holdings in *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987), and *McGary v. Westlake Investors*, 99 Wn.2d 280, 661 P.2d 971 (1983). This Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Cornish College of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Limited Partnership*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 242 P.3d 1 (2010), and *Seashore Villa Association v. Hugglund Family Limited Partnership*, 163 Wn. App. 531, 260 P.3d 906 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1036 (2012). Finally, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because awards of attorneys' fees are important to the disposition of many civil cases throughout the state.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with Singleton and Cornish College. The Three Prevailing Defendants Are Entitled to Their Attorneys' Fees.

It is well settled that, in an action regarding a contract with a prevailing party fee provision, a court must award attorneys' fees to a

party who prevails. *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987). In *Singleton*, two creditors sued to recover unpaid debts owed under promissory notes. *Id.* at 725. Both notes contained fee provisions. *Id.* at 726. The trial court found the debtors liable under both promissory notes, but awarded reasonable attorneys' fees to only one of the creditors (Singleton). *Id.* The trial court declined to award reasonable fees to the other creditor (Schontz). *Id.* at 725-26. Schontz appealed the denial of his request for fees, which the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 726. The Court of Appeals also denied his request for fees on appeal. *Id.* at 727. This Court accepted review of the issue of whether the trial court had discretion to deny Schontz reasonable fees where an award of fees was required by contract. *Id.* at 727. The Court reversed and held that an award of reasonable fees under the contract was mandatory. The Court stated:

We hold that the trial court has discretion regarding the amount of attorney's fees which are reasonable, but that where a contract provides for an award of reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party, such an award must be made.

Singleton, 108 Wn.2d at 727 (emphasis added). A court abuses its discretion if it denies entirely an award of reasonable fees to a wholly prevailing party. *Id.* at 731.

It is equally well established that a defendant prevails by successfully defending against the plaintiff's claims. *Cornish Coll. of the*

Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship, 158 Wn. App. 203, 231, 242 P.3d 1 (2010). A court abuses its discretion if, in cases where a plaintiff asserts claims against multiple defendants, the court fails to consider each defendant separately when determining whether any party is a prevailing party. Id. at 233. In Cornish College the plaintiff tenant leased property from Virginia Limited Partnership, whose general partner was Virginia-Terry, LLC, whose managing member was Donn Etherington, Jr. Id. at 210-11. The plaintiff sued Virginia Limited and Etherington for specific performance of a contractual option to purchase the leased property and for wrongful eviction. *Id.* at 214. The trial court granted the plaintiff's claim for specific performance against Virginia Limited, dismissed the plaintiff's claim for specific performance against Etherington, and awarded the plaintiff its attorneys' fees jointly and severally against Virginia Limited and Etherington. *Id.* Etherington appealed the award of fees against him; the Court of Appeals reversed and awarded Etherington the fees he incurred defending against the plaintiff's claim. *Id.* at 230-34. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to consider the defendants separately. *Id.* at 233. The court made clear that, in multiparty litigation, a court must determine who is a prevailing party on a party-by-party basis. *Id.* at 232-33.

Here, the trial court and the Court of Appeals did not engage in the requisite party-by-party analysis. Three parties prevailed on all claims:

Sessions, the Association, and Kilo Six. Because they wholly prevailed on every claim asserted against them, they are prevailing parties as a matter of law.

Despite the fact that Sessions, the Association, and Kilo Six are undisputedly prevailing parties, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals denied any award of attorneys' fees to them, CP 483 and Slip op. at 30, in direct contradiction to this Court's holding in *Singleton* and the Court of Appeals decision in *Cornish College*. Those cases require courts to award reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party if the contract so provides. *Singleton*, 108 Wn.2d at 727; *Cornish College*, 158 Wn. App. at 234.

Because Sessions, the Association, and Kilo Six prevailed on all claims asserted against them, they are entitled to their attorneys' fees incurred in the trial court and on appeal. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Singleton* and *Cornish College*.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Also Conflicts with McGary and Seashore. No Attorneys' Fees Should Be Awarded to the Plaintiff or the Other Two Defendants, None of Whom Was a Prevailing Party.

It is also well settled that, where both the plaintiff and the defendant prevail on major issues, neither is a substantially prevailing party and no award of attorneys' fees is appropriate. *McGary v. Westlake Investors*, 99 Wn.2d 280, 288, 661 P.2d 971 (1983). In *McGary*, commercial tenants brought a declaratory judgment action to determine lease rights regarding rent increases and parking. *Id.* at 281. The trial court entered judgment for the landlord and awarded the landlord its attorneys' fees. *Id.* at 281-82. The Court of Appeals affirmed, and the Supreme Court accepted review. *Id.* at 282. The Supreme Court affirmed on the issue of rent but reversed on the issue of parking. *Id.* at 286-88. Because both parties had now prevailed on major issues after appeal, the Supreme Court held that neither party had substantially prevailed. *Id.* at 288. The Court reversed the trial court's award of attorneys' fees, and declined to award attorneys' fees to either party. *Id.*.

The Court of Appeals applied this principle more recently in Seashore Villa Association v. Hugglund Family Limited Partnership, 163 Wn. App. 531, 260 P.3d 906 (2011). There, an association of mobile home tenants brought an action against their landlord seeking injunctive

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