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

the corporate ownership of commonly owned and operated parties that 

jointly defended themselves (and continue to do so). But they cannot 

change a fundamental fact: only Petitioners violated the CC&Rs. The trial 

court's award of attorneys' fees recognizes this fact. 

The decisions below do not present any conflict with Supreme 

Court authority. The cases on which Petitioners rely present relatively 

uncontroversial notions not implicated here. They establish that: a party 

who sues on a contract and prevails should receive its fees, Singleton v. 

Frost, 108 Wn.2d 723, 727, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987); parties who prevail on 

"major issues" might not be liable for fees on other issues on which they 

lost, McGary v. Westlake Inv'rs, 99 Wn.2d 280,288,661 P.2d 971 

(1983); Seashore Villa Ass 'n v. Hugglund Family Ltd P 'ship, 163 Wn. 

App. 531, 547, 260 P.3d 906 (2011); and parties to a contract who prevail 

on "distinct and severable" claims may receive an award of fees incurred 

on those claims, Cornish Coli. of the Arts v. 1000 Va. Ltd P'ship, 158 

Wn. App. 203,233-34, 242 P.3d 1 (2010). None ofthese cases, however, 

conflict with the decisions below. Everett Hangar proved that its rights 

had been violated. Disagreements as to the precise scope of those violated 

rights, or to which of the commonly controlled parties had violated them, 

do not require the trial court to award any less for proving the violations 

themselves. This issue does not merit review. 
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If the Court were to review this case, however, a distinct issue 

presents a legitimate need for this Court's intervention. The Court of 

Appeals, contrary to this Court's fundamental rules for appellate review, 

reversed a finding of fact that had substantial-indeed, overwhelming­

support in the record, including testimony from two Everett Hangar 

witnesses the trial court found "particularly credible." Although the Court 

of Appeals concluded that Petitioners had breached the ingress and egress 

easement in the CC&Rs, it nonetheless reversed the trial court's finding 

that the parties intended the easement to include the area sufficient to 

move aircraft under power (a "jet blast zone"). The Court of Appeals 

ignored significant testimony that best practices dictate aircraft movement 

under power. It also found that instead of following those best practices, 

Everett Hangar could tow its aircraft to the runway, a practice that the only 

credible expert dismissed as "unsafe," the trial court expressly found 

"unreasonable," and which threatens the easement's very purpose. By 

supplanting, on a cold record, its judgment for the trial court's, the Court 

of Appeals acted contrary to this Court's precedent defining the appellate 

courts' role in the fact finding process. If this Court accepts review ofthis 

case for any reason, it should be to correct the Court of Appeals' 

overreach on that issue. 

3 
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II. ISSUES PRESENTED IF REVIEW IS GRANTED 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial 

court's conclusion that Everett Hangar, who proved violations of the 

CC&Rs and received judgment in its favor, was the "prevailing party" for 

purposes of awarding attorneys' fees? 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals improperly rejected the trial 

court's findings, supported by detailed Jay and expert testimony, to 

conclude that the parties did not intend the easement in the CC&Rs to 

include the area sufficient to move aircraft under power? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual background 

This dispute concerns three lots on Paine Field, leased to the 

parties for aviation uses. The lots sit adjacent to an active taxiway, which 

provides the only access to the main runway. The lots run west to east, 

identified as Lots 11, 12, and 13. CP 453. Lots 11 and 12 have aircraft 

hangars on them, with paved ramps on the northern portion and two 

shared access points to the taxiway. A ramp owned by Paine Field is 

north of the ramp to Lot 11. Lot 13, farthest east, is vacant, as pictured in 

Trial Exhibit 271 below. 
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Kilo Six, LLC ("Kilo Six") developed the property and continues 

to lease Lot 13. CP 453. Kilo Six's managing and sole member is John 

Sessions. Mr. Sessions is also the managing and sole member of Historic 

Hangars, LLC ("Historic Hangars") which leases Lot 11. !d. Mr. 

Sessions is also the President, CEO, and sole board member of the 

Historic Flight Foundation ("Historic Flight"), which subleases Lot 11. 

!d. Mr. Sessions is also the President of the Kilo 6 Owners Association 

(the "Association"), established to enforce the CC&Rs. !d. 

Everett Hangar and Lot 12. Everett Hangar owns Lot 12, which 

means it is sandwiched between two lots owned by Mr. Sessions' 

companies and is a member of an Association that Mr. Sessions controls. 

Everett Hangar provides corporate jet services from its Lot 12 hangar, 
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operating a Learjet 60 and a Gulfstream IV. CP 457. Everett Hangar has 

only two points of entry to the taxiway and runway. First, it can reach the 

taxiway by using its own ramp to the east. CP 463. It also has an 

easement right, granted in Section I2.7 of the CC&Rs, which provides 

each owner an "ingress and egress easement over and across such portions 

of the airplane ramps located on any Lot as is reasonably necessary to 

move aircraft" to the "taxiways, runways and airport facilities." !d. As 

proved at trial-and included in the trial court's findings-Everett Hangar 

requires the easement over Lot II "based on the direction and speed of the 

wind." !d. When the wind blows from the west, starting the aircraft 

facing east-as necessary to use the east exit-would potentially "damage 

the aircraft engines." !d. Therefore, when the wind blows from the west, 

Everett Hangar must start its engines facing west and exit using the Lot 11 

ramp. !d. Because "best practices provide that aircraft should be 

operating under their own power upon leaving and returning to the ramp," 

Everett Hangar cannot simply tow aircraft to the runway; it needs the west 

exit. CP 472, 463, 465-66. 

Lots 11 and 13. Historic Flight, under a sublease from Historic 

Hangars, operates a vintage aircraft museum on Lot II. CP 460. In 

addition to displays in the hangar, Historic Flight holds a wide variety of 

events outside on the Lot II ramp-including public events, beer gardens, 
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receptions, and weddings. Id. It also routinely parks aircraft on the Lot 11 

ramp for public display, allowing public access to the ramp, which not all 

museums at Paine Field allow. CP 460; RP 177-78. It stores one large 

plane on the ramp because it cannot fit in the hangar at all. CP 459; RP 

934. These events regularly obstruct the area necessary for Everett 

Hangar's aircraft to access the runway and place objects and individuals at 

risk of harm from jet blast resulting from Everett Hangar's aircraft moving 

under power (as best practices require). CP 473. Historic Flight does not 

employ security cameras or security personnel, and it usually relies on 

"bicycle fencing" for security on the Lot 11 ramp. CP 476. Despite Kilo 

Six's ownership ofthe lot, the vacant Lot 13 is used almost exclusively for 

Historic Flight's event parking. CP 461-62. The only barrier to prevent 

people from accessing the active airfield and the Lot 12 ramp is more 

bicycle fencing, which adults have routinely stepped over to obtain access 

to restricted areas of Everett Hangar's lot. As the trial court and Court of 

Appeals acknowledged, these activities violated several regulations related 

to safety and security. CP 474-75; Op. at 15. 

B. The Bench Trial and the Trial Court's Findings 

Everett Hangar filed suit in Snohomish County Superior Court. It 

brought claims asserting two essential violations of the CC&Rs: (1) 

violation of its easement rights; and (2) the safety and security violations 
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that threatened the well-being of Everett Hangar, its guests, and Petitioners 

and their guests. Given John Sessions' common ownership of all ofthe 

parties that surrounded and controlled the adjoining properties, Everett 

Hangar brought suit against Sessions, Historic Hangars, Historic Flight, 

Kilo Six, and the Kilo Six Association. 

Although Everett Hangar initially included in the Complaint a 

request for damages, it elected not to pursue damages at the summary 

judgment stage and instead went to trial seeking only injunctive relief. CP 

677. Everett Hangar also sought to pierce the veil against Mr. Sessions­

not a party to the CC&Rs himself. CP 478. Judge Millie Judge presided 

over a two-week bench trial. She found Petitioners' activities (1) were 

unreasonable and interfered with Everett Hangar's reasonable use of the 

easement, and (2) created unreasonable safety and security threats. The 

judge set forth detailed factual findings in a 33-page order. CP 453-84. 

Based on detailed expert and lay testimony, the court concluded 

that Petitioners had violated Everett Hangar's easement-which included 

the area necessary for Everett Hangar's aircraft to access the taxiway 

under power (or a 'jet blast zone"). CP 473-74. The court also found that 

the activities on Lots 11 and 13 violated safety and security regulations, 

and that "the Foundation environment is wide-open from a security 

standpoint." CP 476-77. The court found Historic Hangars and Historic 
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Flight liable for the violations on Lot II, and those parties and Kilo Six 

liable for violations occurring on Lot 13. CP 477. The court also found 

the Association and its members liable for failing to enforce the CC&Rs. 

CP 478. The Court issued an injunction against future violations ofthe 

CC&Rs. CP 449-5I. The Court concluded that Everett Hangar was the 

prevailing party, and after considerable briefing from the parties and a 

hearing, awarded Everett Hangar the fees it deemed reasonable. CP 4-403. 

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision 

The Court of Appeals largely affirmed the trial court's decision. It 

concluded that Everett Hangar had a right to access portions of Lot II 

when wind conditions dictated and that Petitioners had "routinely blocked 

Everett Hangar's access over the Lot II ramp." Op. at I5. It affirmed that 

Kilo Six, Historic Hangars, and Historic Flight had committed several 

violations of safety and security regulations incorporated into the CC&Rs. 

!d. at 22. It also affirmed the trial court's conclusion that Everett Hangar 

was the "prevailing party" on appeal. !d. at 27-28. 

The Court of Appeals, however, reversed on a few specific issues. 

First, and most notably, it reversed the trial court's findings that the parties 

intended to include a "jet blast zone" in the easement--despite the court's 

findings on best practices in aviation and significant expert and lay 

testimony supporting those findings. !d. at I6-I8. It also reversed the 
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liability of the Association for the primary conduct of its members, and 

also the vicarious liability for Kilo Six "as an Association member" (not 

for its own actions on Lot I3 ). !d. at 26 It also required the trial court to 

issue more detailed findings on the reasonableness of Everett Hangar's 

attorneys' fees. !d. at 27-29. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding Attorneys' 
Fees Is Fully Consistent with Established Precedent. 

The trial and appellate courts both correctly determined that 

Everett Hangar prevailed on its contract claims and properly rejected 

Petitioners' repeated attempts to confuse the issue. Those attempts 

continue with Petitioners' argument that the lower courts' decisions 

conflict with Washington law. There is no conflict. 

The sole right to attorneys' fees at issue in this case comes from 

the CC&Rs. See CP 488. Everett Hangar made two essential claims 

under the CC&Rs. First, it claimed that the agreement provided it a right 

to enter and exit the runway using an easement across Lot II (owned by 

Historic Hangars and Historic Flight). The trial court and appellate court 

agreed. Everett Hangar also claimed that conduct on Lots II and I3-by 

Historic Flight, Historic Hangars, and Kilo Six-violated safety and 

security provisions incorporated into the CC&Rs. The trial court and 
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appellate court agreed. Because "a prevailing party is one who receives an 

affirmative judgment in its favor," this should be the end of the issue. 

Cornish Coil. ofthe Arts v. 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship, I 58 Wn. App. 203, 23I, 

242P.3d I (20IO). 

Petitioners, though, have repeatedly pressed a variety of arguments 

that somehow render them the winners in the matter. The trial court, after 

hearing evidence from the parties for two weeks, knew better, and the 

Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's judgment. Nothing in 

the Court of Appeals' decision presents a conflict with existing precedent 

or a legal question deserving of this court's attention. 

First, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this 

Court's decision in Singleton v. Frost, I08 Wn.2d 723,726-27,742 P.2d 

I224 (1987), a case Petitioners did not even bother to cite before the Court 

of Appeals. Singleton stands for little more than the notion that an 

individual who sues on a promissory note and wins must receive 

reasonable attorneys' fees as set forth in the note. Petitioners, however, 

brought no claims against Everett Hangar, much less any on which they 

prevailed. Instead, in this case, the plaintiff sued four commonly held 

entities who have related roles in the ownership and operation ofthe two 

plots of land surrounding the plaintiff, and the courts below found against 

three of them. Nothing in Singleton suggests the fact that the fourth 
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survived on appeal should merit an award of fees, particularly when that 

party is merely an Association controlled by those the Court found liable. 

Second, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this 

Court's decision in McGary v. Westlake Investors, 99 Wn.2d 280, 661 

P.2d 971 (1983). McGary involved a declaratory judgment action in 

which the plaintiff asked the Court to resolve differing interpretations of 

two clauses in a contract. The Supreme Court agreed with the plaintiff on 

one clause, and the defendant on another. The Supreme Court merely 

concluded that "[u]nder our decision here ... there is no prevailing party." 

/d. at 288. Petitioners claim that McGary stands for the proposition that 

when both parties prevail "on major issues after appeal," no award of fees 

is appropriate. Pet. at 15. 

It is unclear, though, what "major issue" any of the parties who 

must pay Everett Hangar's fees-Historic Hangars, Historic Flight, and 

Kilo Six-prevailed on. 1 The lower courts held that Historic Hangars and 

Historic Flight violated the easement in the CC&Rs and committed safety 

and security violations, the only two claims asserted against them. The 

1 Everett Hangar's breach of fiduciary duty claim was not a claim under the CC&Rs, nor 
have Petitioners ever cited a case demonstrating otherwise. See Boguch v. Landover 
Corp., 153 Wn. App. 595,616,224 P.3d 795 (2009) ("tortious breach of a duty" is "not 
properly characterized as breach of contract") (internal quotation marks omitted). Everett 
Hangar removed from its application any fees on that claim. CP 140. Moreover, Mr. 
Sessions was not a party to the CC&Rs and therefore has no right to fees. G. W Equip. 
Leasing, Inc. v. Mt. McKinley Fence Co., 97 Wn. App. 191, 200, 982 P.2d 114 (1999). 
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lower courts held that Kilo Six also violated the safety and security 

provisions; its only so-called victory was the appellate court's 

determination that it was not also vicariously liable as a member of the 

Association for failing to prevent its own violations. 

McGary, like Singleton, has little bearing on the facts of this case. 

Like plaintiffs do every day, Everett Hangar sued all potential related 

defendants to ensure no one party could escape liability based by pointing 

to an absent one. Neither McGary nor Singleton suggests that this should 

entitle Everett Hangar to any less compensation for proving violations of 

the CC&Rs. 

Third, no opinion of the Washington appellate courts conflicts 

with the Court's decision. Petitioners first rely on Seashore Villa Ass 'n v. 

Hugglund Family Ltd. P'ship, 163 Wn. App. 531, 260 P.3d 906 (2011), 

which does not even concern entitlement to attorney fees under a contract. 

At best, though, it merely follows McGary's edict that a party who 

prevails on a "major issue" may not be liable for the other party's fees. !d. 

at 547. The trial and appellate courts here disagreed that Petitioners liable 

for fees prevailed on a "major issue," and Seashore Villa does not conflict 

with that decision. 

Moreover, the trial court's decision does not conflict with Cornish 

College. Cornish College holds that in cases involving "several distinct 
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and severable claims," a Court should employ a "proportionality 

approach" under which "each party is awarded attorney fees for the claims 

on which it success or against which it successfully defends." 158 Wn.

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